WHO/EMC/ZDI/98 12 Distr General English only

# Use of Quinolones in Food Animals and Potential Impact on Human Health

Report and Proceedings of a WHO Meeting

Geneva, Switzerland 2-5 June 1998



DIVISION OF EMERGING AND OTHER COMMUNICABLE DISEASES SURVEILLANCE AND CONTROL WORLD HEALTH OPCANIZATION

# CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION 1
II.	Use of Quinolones in Humans and Emerging Resistance Problems
111.	Links Between Quinolone Use in Food Animals and Observed Increases in Quinolone-Resistant Food-borne Pathogens and Human Treatment Problems
	General statements
	Evidence in relation to Campylobacter       5         Nature of resistance       5         Campylobacter in food animals       5         Impact on human health       6         Evidence in relation to non-typhoidal Salmonella       6         Nature of resistance       6         Salmonella in food animals       6         Impact on human health       7
IV.	QUINOLONE USE IN ANIMALS AND RESISTANCE IN ANIMAL BACTERIA
	Quinolone use in animals
	Licensing and post-licensing procedures and requirements for quinolones in various parts of the world
V.	RECOMMENDATIONS
	Research needs14
	Data gathering needs15
	Monitoring of antimicrobial resistance
	Usage of quinolones in food animals
	Aquaculture
List	OF PARTICIPANTS AND OBSERVERS
AGE	NDA AND TIMETABLE

# CONTENTS CONT.

Working ]	Papers
1.	Mechanisms of Quinolone Resistance 27
2.	Susceptibility Testing of Quinolones and Links Between In Vitro and In Vivo Resistance
3.	Review of the Clinical Use of Quinolones in Human Medicine: Western Hemisphere
4.	Review of the Clinical Use of Quinolones in Human Medicine: Eastern Hemisphere
5.	Quinolone Resistance in Community-Acquired Pathogens in South Africa
6.	Resistance to Quinolones in Zoonotic Bacteria in China
7.	Review of Quinolone Resistance in Human Pathogens
8.	Initial Attempts to Assess the Environmental Fate of the Veterinary Fluoroquinolone Enrofloxacin by <i>In Vitro</i> Degradation Studies Employing Basidiomycetous Fungi Isolated from Wood, Agricultural Soils, and Cattle Dung
9.	Overview of Quinolone Usage for Food-producing Animals
10.	The Authorisation of Antimicrobials in the EU for Veterinary Use
11.	Quinolone Licensing for Use in Food Animals and Related Problems Facing Regulators in the USA115
12.	Overview of Fluoroquinolone Use in US Poultry Production
13.	Quinolone Usage in Poultry Medication in Europe
14.	Quinolone Usage and Resistant Bacteria in Chickens in Japan
15.	Examples of Quinolone Usage in Pig Production in Latin America
16.	Review of Quinolone Usage in Pig Production
17.	Review of the Use of Quinolones in Food Animals

## CONTENTS CONT.

ч Ş

18.	Examples of In Vitro Quinolone Resistance Prevalence/Trends in Human and Animal Isolates of Foodborne Salmonella in Australia
19.	Examples of In Vitro Quinolone Resistance Prevalence/Trends in Foodborne Salmonella and Campylobacter in Denmark
20.	Examples of In Vitro Quinolone Resistance Prevalence /Trends in Foodborne Salmonella and other enterics in Germany
21.	Quinolone Resistance in <i>E. coli</i> and <i>Salmonella</i> spp. Isolated in Japan
22.	Examples of <i>In Vitro</i> Quinolone Resistance Prevalence Trends in Humans and Animal Isolates of Food-borne Salmonella and <i>Campylobacter</i> in the Netherlands
23.	Quinolone Resistance in <i>Campylobacter</i> and <i>Salmonella</i> Strains Isolated in Swedish Patients with Diarrhoea
24.	Quinolone-Resistant Campylobacter in the United Kingdom
25.	Resistance to Fluoroquinolone Antibiotics in Salmonellas from Humans in England and Wales — the Current Situation
26.	Drug Resistance in C. Jejuni, C. Coli and C. Lari Isolated from Humans in Wales and North West England During 1997203
27.	The Origins and Consequences of Antimicrobial-Resistant Nontyphoidal <i>Salmonella</i> : Implications for Use of Fluoroquinolones in Food Animals205
28.	Prevalence/Trends of Quinolone Resistance in Salmonella Isolates from Animals in the USA
29.	Overview on Human Salmonella Infections
30.	Overview of Campylobacteriosis Treatment Problems
31.	Quinolone Use in Agriculture and Medical Problems How Reliable is the Data?245
32.	Risk Assessment: Data Needs and Methods251

WHO/EMC/ZDI/98.12



γ.



## I. Introduction

A variety of antimicrobial types are used in livestock production. Their use inevitably leads to the selection of resistant forms of bacteria in the ecosystem of use. This selection will occur with all uses in livestock production including treatment, prophylaxis and growth promotion.

Priority medical problems arising from the use of antimicrobials in livestock production have been summarized<sup>1</sup> recently. Use of quinolones<sup>2</sup> in livestock has been identified as a particular area of concern because of the significance of this group of antimicrobials for the treatment of a broad range of infections in humans including gastrointestinal infections caused by zoonotic bacteria transmitted to humans via the food chain.

Currently, several quinolones are available for treatment of animals, poultry and fish in many countries in the world. Available data indicate that they are also used for disease prevention in some regions. Quinolone production and usage is estimated<sup>3</sup> to be about 50 tonnes for proprietary products (mainly USA, European Union, Japan, South Korea) and, because of their lower prices, about 70 tonnes for generic quinolones. However, available usage data, particularly for non-proprietary quinolones, are known to be grossly incomplete. For instance, data from China estimate annual quinolone consumption in animals in China alone to be in the range of 470 tonnes (annual consumption in human medicine in China: about 1,350 tonnes).

Considerable variation in the usage and in the regulatory processes for drugs of different countries is recognized to occur. Licensing requirements range from highly controlled to minimal scrutiny and in some cases the products are available without a review process by a regulatory authority. In some countries there is no legal framework for prescription of veterinary pharmaceuticals.

An increase in antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic bacteria isolated from animals, food and humans (e.g., *Salmonella* and *Campylobacter*) has already been reported, but the scope of the problems still needs to be identified and the links between quinolone use in animals and the occurrence of problems in infectious disease treatment in humans elucidated.

Against this backdrop, WHO organised a consultation to address some of the above mentioned concerns in June 1998. The objectives of this meeting were to:

- Identify known and potential links between the emergence and spread of quinolone resistance from food-borne and other possible zoonotic bacteria, and human zoonotic infection.
- Review the conditions and extent of use of the various quinolones in humans and in food animals.
- Identify and make specific recommendations on areas of applied research or data gathering that would assist in risk assessment.

The meeting gathered 59 experts from a wide range of disciplines including clinical medicine, infectious disease epidemiology and control, microbiology, veterinary medicine, animal production, licensing and registration of antimicrobials, research and development and sale of antimicrobials. In addition, representatives from numerous governmental and non-governmental organizations and observers attended the consultation.

Thirty-two presentations were delivered by participants of this meeting. Of these papers, 30 were distributed to an e-mail discussion group for comments over a 4-week period prior to the meeting in Geneva. The group included over 450 subscribers from at least 44 countries on all continents. Comments from the group were supplied to meeting participants along with the working papers, at the beginning of the meeting.

Presentations and discussions on the first two days of the meeting reviewed:

- use of quinolones and resistance in humans
- production, licensing and use of quinolones for food animals
- · links between quinolone resistance in food animal bacteria and human disease.

One paper provided an overview on the possibilities and conditions of risk assessment in the context of containment of antimicrobial resistance.

Subsequently, two working groups drafted reports which were discussed and adopted during the final plenary session:

- Links between quinolone use in food animals and observed increases in quinoloneresistant food-borne pathogens and human treatment problems
- Quinolone use in animals and resistance in animal bacteria.

This report presents the findings, conclusions and recommendations of this meeting.

# II. Use of quinolones in humans and emerging resistance problems

Since the development of newer quinolones and their release in the mid-1980s, there has been extensive clinical use of these agents in human medicine, and four new agents have been released in the past two years. Various quinolones have been approved and used extensively for treatment of a broad range of clinical infections, including those of the genitourinary, gastrointestinal, and respiratory tracts as well as infections of bone, joints, and skin. In the context of increasing resistance of gram-negative bacteria to other classes of antimicrobials, these agents have provided valuable alternative therapies and often been used in place of more toxic aminoglycosides. The most recently released members of the class, which have increased potency against gram-positive and in some cases anaerobic bacteria have also expanded the range of applications particularly to include intra-abdominal infections caused by mixtures of anaerobic and gram-negative bacteria and infections caused by *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, which has become increasingly resistant to other antimicrobials normally used for treatment of these infections.

With the use of quinolones in human medicine in the past decade, there has also been recognition that this use may select for resistance in human pathogens. Although many pathogens have remained susceptible (e.g., community strains of Enterobacteriaceae) with little increasing resistance in the past decade in many developed countries, there are several circumstances in which resistance has limited therapeutic use. Resistance was first recognized and has had the largest effect in Staphylococcus aureus, especially methicillin-resistant strains, and Pseudomonas aeruginosa, an occurrence which may in part reflect two factors. One factor is the finding that single mutations occurring on the chromosome of members of these species may be sufficient to cause clinically relevant levels of resistance, and the second factor is that infections with these organisms often occur in hospital settings in which nosocomial spread may occur and amplify the prevalence of resistance. Resistance, however, has also occurred in pathogens whose susceptibility is sufficient to require more than a single chromosomal mutation to develop levels of clinical resistance. One particularly important example is resistance in Escherichia coli isolated from blood cultures from neutropenic patients given auinolones for prophylaxis in several medical centers. Epidemiologic and microbiologic studies of these patients have clearly identified quinolone use as the principal risk factor, the occurrence of selection in distinct strains that are part of endogenous fecal flora (rather than nosocomial spread), and the presence of multiple mutations contributing to resistance. These data imply that even for highly susceptible organisms, in settings of intense selection pressure, highly resistant isolates may emerge when there is a large reservoir of organisms such as in the gastrointestinal tract that allows persistence of first-step resistant mutants from which second and later step mutants may be selected. Resistance emerging in urinary isolates of E. coli in Europe and resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae have also been associated with human fluoroquinolone use. There is concern that expanded use of quinolones for treatment of respiratory tract infections may pose a risk for development of resistance in S. pneumoniae, but data are currently limited.

For zoonotic infections, fluoroquinolones have often been used for treatment of human infections with *Campylobacter jejuni* and species of non-typhoidal *Salmonella*. For empiric treatment of bacterial gastroenteritis, which is most often caused by *C. jejuni*, *Salmonella*, *Shigella*, or *E. coli*, the fluoroquinolones are one of the few classes of agents with activity against the full range of pathogens, and thus are commonly used. Patients with bacteraemic *Salmonella* infection have also been treated with quinolones. Resistance has been documented to emerge during therapy in small numbers of cases of *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella* with a few clinical failures, but the magnitude of this problem is uncertain. In treatment of enteric fever due to *Salmonella typhi*, a non-zoonotic member of the genus, it has recently been documented that reduced susceptibility to fluoroquinolones without complete resistance (as defined by established breakpoints used in clinical laboratories) is associated with slower rates of response to quinolone therapy, raising concerns that reduced susceptibility without complete resistance in other species of *Salmonella* may affect the outcomes of quinolone therapy.



## III. Links between quinolone use in food animals, observed increases in quinolone-resistant food-borne pathogens and human treatment problems

## **General statements**

Quinolones are synthetic antibiotics that act by inhibiting DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV in susceptible bacteria. The original quinolones have modest activity against Enterobacteriaceae and some other facultative gram-negative bacteria only. Fluorinated quinolones, called fluoroquinolones, were developed from the original quinolones and extended the spectrum of activity to include *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and some grampositive bacteria, as well as having substantially increased activity against other gramnegative bacteria.

Bacteria resistant to the original class of quinolones (e.g., nalidixic acid, oxolinic acid) may have reduced susceptibility or resistance to fluoroquinolones. Bacteria resistant to one fluoroquinolone are generally cross-resistant to other fluoroquinolones. This cross resistance includes fluoroquinolones used in animals and those available for human use.

Exposure to lower concentrations of quinolones increases the chance for selection of resistance. This circumstance could be encountered in certain dosing situations, with poor compliance or with poor quality products where inadequate doses could be taken by some individuals. There is controversy about the relative risks of inadequate dosing in an animal population by different routes of administration, particularly the relative risks of dosing via water and feed in comparison to other routes.

### **Evidence in relation to Campylobacter**

### Nature of resistance

C. jejuni and C. coli are naturally less susceptible to fluoroquinolones than many other gram-negative bacteria. In these species, single mutations can lead to resistance that exceeds commonly accepted breakpoints. In addition to quinolone resistance, co-resistance with other antibiotics such as macrolides has been noted in Spain and Thailand.

### Campylobacter in food animals

*C. jejuni* is a frequent commensal in poultry and cattle, and *C. coli* is a frequent commensal in swine and poultry. There is a temporal association between the introduction of fluoroquinolones for use in poultry and a substantial rise in the prevalence of quinoloneresistant *C. jejuni* isolated in live poultry, poultry meat and from infected humans. Moreover, prior to any use in poultry, no resistant strains were reported in individuals with no previous exposure to quinolones.

### Impact on human health

*Campylobacter* species are the commonest cause of bacterial gastroenteritis in developed countries. Sporadic cases of campylobacteriosis, which comprise the largest number of reported cases, are predominantly associated with consumption of contaminated food, particularly poultry, in most developed countries.

The majority of gastrointestinal *Campylobacter* infections do not require antibiotic treatment and are self-limiting. Where treatment is felt to be required, erythromycin is usually recommended. However, fluoroquinolones are often used for empiric treatment because they will cover other bacterial pathogens pending laboratory results. They also are better tolerated than erythromycin.

In studies in several countries, there is an association with overseas travel to areas of high prevalence of fluoroquinolone-resistant campylobacter and acquisition of such strains. However, the majority of fluoroquinolone-resistant campylobacter are domestically acquired. In the past, some studies using molecular markers have shown a link between human and animal isolates of susceptible campylobacter. Recently one US study has confirmed similar links for fluoroquinolone-resistant strains.

The effect of fluoroquinolone resistance in campylobacter on the clinical outcome of treatment with a fluoroquinolone is not clear. In immunocompromised patients there have been reports of failures associated with resistance emerging during treatment. However, there are few published data on immunocompetent individuals. There are conflicting data on whether resistant campylobacter have caused more severe disease.

#### Evidence in relation to non-typhoidal Salmonella

### Nature of resistance

Salmonellae are normally highly susceptible to fluoroquinolones. They require two or more mutations to become resistant at levels above the most widely used clinical breakpoints (e.g., ciprofloxacin 1-4 mg/L).

### Salmonella in food animals

Salmonellae have a wide host range that includes humans and animals, both as a coloniser and a cause of disease. There is a temporal association between the introduction of fluoroquinolones in food-producing animals and the emergence of reduced susceptibility to ciprofloxacin in *S. typhimurium* DT104, already resistant to five antibiotics, in the UK. There are also indications of reduced susceptibility to ciprofloxacin in human isolates of a variety of zoonotic salmonellae following introduction into food-producing animals of fluoroquinolones in the UK, USA and Denmark.

-----

Subsequent to the introduction in 1988 of fluoroquinolones for food animal use in Germany, the emergence of fluoroquinolone-resistant variants of the multi-resistant S. typhimurium clone DT204c was observed. Resistance reached a prevalence of 50% in isolates from calves in a defined area of the country. Subsequently the prevalence of these resistant strains has diminished, but data associating this change in prevalence with changes in fluoroquinolone usage in animals are unavailable.

There is uncertainty about the relative contribution of direct selective pressure versus the spread of resistant strains in the presence or absence of quinolone use to the emergence and dissemination of quinolone-resistant Salmonella.

Variation is reported in the rate of emergence of animal strains with reduced susceptibility to fluoroquinolones in different countries after the introduction of fluoroquinolones for use in food animals. Lack of data on usage of quinolones in many countries makes interpretation of this variation difficult.

### Impact on human health

Person-to-person spread of salmonellas may be common in developing countries but is rare in developed countries, where most infections are food-borne. Fluoroquinolones are important drugs for the treatment of extra-intestinal infections caused by *Salmonella*.

Prior use of antibiotics in humans increases the likelihood of contracting salmonellosis caused by susceptible but especially resistant strains.

The common serotypes of Salmonella cause bacteraemia in 0.5 - 2.5% of cultureconfirmed salmonellosis cases in the UK and in less than 6% in the USA. Untreated or ineffectively treated salmonella bacteraemia in humans can be fatal. There has been only one published case of a non-fatal infection by *S. typhimurium* DT204c infection due to a resistant strain of animal origin that failed fluoroquinolone therapy. There is concern, however, that zoonotic salmonellae with decreased susceptibility to fluoroquinolones are increasing and that a small proportion of these will cause invasive infections that require treatment, possibly with a fluoroquinolone, and that treatment failure could occur. The emergence of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing salmonellae in some locales also increases this concern because of limited treatment options.

Although there is no microbiologically proven link between antibiotic resistance and virulence for humans in zoonotic salmonella, increased rates of hospitalisation have been reported for patients with infections with multiresistant *S. typhimurium* DT104.

Prolonged carriage of fluoroquinolone-resistant salmonella has implications for food handlers and health care workers, such as delay in return to work.

Conclusions on links between quinolone use in food animals and observed increases in quinolone-resistant foodborne pathogens and human treatment problems:

The use of fluoroquinolones in food animals has led to the emergence of fluoroquinolone-resistant Campylobacter and of Salmonella with reduced susceptibility to fluoroquinolones.

There has been little documented impact of this resistance on human health to date, but there is concern about the potential human health consequences if resistance were to increase and spread. Further research and data gathering are essential to quantify this potential.

## IV. Quinolone use in animals and resistance in animal bacteria

## Quinolone use in animals

Nalidixic acid was developed in the early 1960's and was the first quinolone used clinically in animals. Subsequent quinolones, all congeners of nalidixic acid and synthesised in the late 1960s and 1970s, clearly showed both improved antibacterial and pharmacokinetic properties as well as reduced side effects. Some of these are still used in veterinary medicine (flumequine, oxolinic acid) in a limited number of countries. Clinically, a significant breakthrough was achieved by the introduction of the fluoroquinolones. Currently, several fluoroquinolones are available for therapy of animals in many countries. However, the usage of these fluoroquinolones differs greatly as regards animal species, indications, label indications, and geographic spread, which are summarized in Table 1 and Table 2.

The data presented indicate that quinolones are used for treatment of animal disease in many countries of the world and in some regions they are also used for disease prevention. Table 1 is not able to show that in some regions of the world there are significant amounts of generic and/or counterfeit drugs used, sometimes of unknown or variable product quality. The exact amount of this use is difficult to quantify as the usage data are not available, but it is believed to exceed the use of veterinary proprietary product(s) worldwide.

Table 1	Proprietary q	uinolone	s curren	itly licensed	for use in	animals	3	
Generic name	Trade name	cattle	swine	chickens	turkeys	Dogs	cats	fish
enrofloxacin	Baytril	Х	Х	X	Х	x	Х	X *
danofloxacin	Advocin, Advocid	х	х	x				
norfloxacin	Quinabic			x	х			
ofloxacin	Oxaldin			х	х			
ciprofloxacin	generic		х	х				
sarafloxacin	Floxasol Saraflox Sarafin			х	х			х
orbifloxacin	Victas Orbax	Х	х			X	х	
marbofloxacin	Marbocyl	x	х			х	х	
flumequine	many	х	х	х				х
oxolinic acid	many	x	х	х				х
difloxacin	Vetequinon Dicural		х	х	х	х		

\* Baytril is not licensed for this use but generic products are available in some countries

Use of Quinolones In Food Animais and Potential Impact on Human Health 9

Furthermore, limited usage data from developed countries have been available to regulatory authorities in the form of quantity (by weight) used in some countries. More specific information on the distribution of use by region, animal species and type, indication and formulation has traditionally not been available because pharmaceutical companies have tended to view these data as proprietary information. Efforts are being made in some regions to at least partially overcome this problem by third party collection and tabulation of usage data in a manner that protects confidentiality. This data collection may not, however, address the use of generic quinolones.

Although the major sources of food-borne salmonella and campylobacter are livestock and poultry, it is recognized that companion and feral animals ex-posed to quinolone selective pressure represent a potential source of anti-microbial resistant zoonotic bacteria for food animals, and pets are a potential source of infection for humans through direct contact. The first isolations for *Salmonella typhimurium* DT104 in the UK were from non-domestic birds and human beings. Increasingly, this zoonotic pathogen has been

Region	Livestock	Poultry	Pet animals	Fish
Europe	enrofloxacin, flumequine, marbofloxacin, danofloxacin	enrofloxacin, difloxacin, flumequine, oxolinic acid	enrofloxacin, difloxacin, marbofloxacin	sarafloxacin, (oxolinic acid)
USA	none	enrofloxacin, sarafloxacin	enrofloxacin, difloxacin, orbifloxacin	none
Japan	enrofloxacin, danofloxacin, orbifloxacin, difloxacin, oxolinic acid	enrofloxacin, danofloxacin, ofloxacin, vebufloxacin, oxolinic acid	enrofloxacin, orbifloxacin	oxolinic acid
Asia	enrofloxacin, danofloxacin, ciprofloxacin	enrofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, danofloxacin, ofloxacin, flumequine, norfloxacin, oxolinic acid, (sarafloxacin)	enrofloxacin	oxolinic acid enrofloxacin, flumequine
Latin America	enrofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, danofloxacin, norfloxacin, (flumequine)	enrofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, danofloxacin, norfloxacin, (flumequine, oxolinic acid)	enrofloxacin	oxolinic acid
Canada		enrofloxacin <sup>b</sup>	enrofloxacin	
Australia	none	none	enrofloxacin	none
South Africa	enrofloxacin, danofloxacin	enrofloxacin, danofloxacin, norfloxacin	enrofloxacin	

## Table 2 Quinoiones licensed for use in food animals by region of the world

\* Substances in parentheses are in limited use.

<sup>b</sup> Voluntarily withdrawn from the market in 1998.

isolated from faeces of farm animals and in some countries is now endemic in these species, and it has been isolated from companion and feral animals as well. Thus, companion animal data are presented in these tables with information from food animals.

Further, the potential importance of extra label use in other species, including horses, is recognized. In some countries, veterinarians have the authority to use these products in other (extra label) indications and situations; elsewhere, veterinarians are restricted to the use of these products to label indications or specifically when no other medicinal products are available for that disease in that species. Finally, there are many developing countries where these products may be used by producers without the requirement of veterinary involvement.

As indicated in Table 3, quinolones are licensed for treatment of Salmonella infections in some animal species. This is noteworthy because treatment of salmonellosis with antibiotics has been shown to prolong carriage of salmonella in food animals, however

Animal species	Licensed use	Major bacteria	Formulations	
cattle	respiratory, enteric	Pasteurella spp., Haemophilus somnus, Mycoplasma bovis	injectable, bolus	
swine	respiratory, enteric, mastitis/metritis	Pasteurella spp., Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae, Mycoplasma, E. coli	injectable, oral solution, feed medication	
broilers	respiratory, enteric	E. coli, Mycoplasma, Pasteurella. Salmonella	oral (water medication)	
tu <b>rkey</b> s	respiratory, enteric	E. coli, Mycoplasma, Pasteurella, Salmonella	oral (water medication)	
fish	generalised conditions	Aeromonas hydrophila	oral (feed medication),	
	(septicemia), skin/ulcers	Vibrio spp.	water bath	
dogs	skins/wounds, urinary tract, respiratory	S. intermedius, E. coli, Pasteurella	tablets, injectable	
cats	skins/wounds, urinary tract, respiratory	S. intermedius, E. coli, Pasteurella	tablets, injectable	

## Table 3 Indications of use and formulations of guinolones for

to date this has not been shown to occur with quinolone use. There are no published data regarding the incidence of treatment failures of salmonellosis in animals caused by any strain of *Salmonella* that has reduced susceptibility (distinguished from clinical resistance) to fluoroquinolones, however there have been treatment failures in calves due to clinically resistant Salmonellae in Germany.

# Licensing and post-licensing procedures and requirements for quinolones in various parts of the world

Considerable variation in the regulatory processes of different countries is recognized to occur. Licensing requirements range from highly controlled to minimal scrutiny and in some cases the products are available without a review process by a regulatory authority. In some countries there is no legal framework for prescription of veterinary pharmaceuticals.

The Veterinary International Cooperation on Harmonisation (VICH) is an international initiative intended to harmonise the regulatory requirements for registration among the United States, the European Union and Japan. This initiative is held under the auspices of the Office International des Epizooties (OIE). The issue of antimicrobial resistance has not been posed to the VICH, although it could be.

Some regulatory bodies have in place requirements to include the evaluation of microbiological safety in terms of resistance to antimicrobials. Technical areas required to be addressed in drug licensing in the United States, the European Union and Japan include target animal efficacy and safety, human food safety regarding drug residues, and product quality. Increasingly, countries are concerned about the emergence of resistance among zoonotic pathogens. A fundamental addition to the registration process in some countries is the evaluation of resistance concerns pre-approval and the monitoring of susceptibility of zoonotic and/or target animal pathogens post-approval as a critical part of the registration process. In some jurisdictions, issues arising for a particular product have to be addressed before renewal of the marketing authorisation. Furthermore, many groups are initiating efforts to develop principles of prudent use and to educate veterinarians and end-users about the prudent or judicious use of antimicrobials.

# Quinolone resistance patterns in animal pathogens and commensals

Resistance to quinolones, in the form of nalidixic acid resistance and reduced susceptibility or clinical resistance to fluoroquinolones, has been observed in target pathogens and commensals. The acquisition of resistance has been found to develop through step-wise, chromosomal mutation, and to be directed towards both the target enzymes and the efflux pump of the bacteria. There are vast regional differences in monitoring of the resistance patterns in animal pathogens and commensals. The majority of regions have no monitoring programmes ongoing. There are also substantial differences in the types of samples that are collected for monitoring, including clinical submissions, slaughterhouse samples, and samples collected from herds/farms/hatcheries. These are in some cases collected on an ongoing basis and in other cases are compiled for a specific period of time and for a specific purpose, such as a regional or national survey. Even with the ongoing monitoring programmes that do exist, the practising veterinarian or other user is unable to obtain easily the relevant data on a regional and national basis. Government bodies, veterinarians, pharmaceutical companies and the food-producing industry may be conducting independent monitoring programmes, but efforts and procedures differ, resulting in data from different laboratories and countries that in some (perhaps most) cases cannot be compared. This same dilemma exists when attempting to compare data from different regions.

In addition to monitoring programmes as a source of resistance data, in many countries there are private or public animal disease diagnostic laboratories that conduct bacterial culture and antimicrobial susceptibility analyses on clinical submissions. Veterinarians use this information to evaluate the need for quinolone treatment of animals. Furthermore, regulatory agencies may use some of these data or specimens (especially of zoonotic agents) to assess the emergence and transmission of resistance in zoonotic food-borne bacteria.

## V. Recommendations

## **Research needs**

Applied research should be conducted:

- to further evaluate the impact of bacteria with reduced susceptibility to fluoroquinolones on the outcome of treatment of human infections
- on established and novel mechanisms of resistance to quinolones in food-borne pathogens
- on emergence and dissemination of quinolone resistance in zoonotic bacteria and its spread within and between species. Specific research subjects would be the spread of fluoroquinolone-resistant bacteria from animals to farm workers and the establishment of the clonal relationships between quinolone-resistant strains in animals and humans
- on the persistence of quinolone-resistant strains compared to susceptible strains of *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella*, particularly in food animals
- on methods and tools that would reduce the risk of selecting bacteria with quinolone resistance or reduced susceptibility in animals and that would lead to the restoration of susceptible flora after resistance. This would include research into:
  - the appropriate dose, route and duration of administration of quinolones in animals. In particular, studies are needed on the relative risks of dosing via water and feed in comparison to other routes
  - a broad range of animal production and management practices.

Similar studies to evaluate the effects of reduction of use of quinolones on restoration of susceptible flora are also needed.

- to develop economical alternatives to the use of antimicrobials for disease prevention (e.g., vaccines, probiotics, competitive exclusion principles, etc.) and evaluate the impact that these alternatives might have on selection for resistance
- to evaluate the impact of the use of quinolones in domestic pets and birds on the introduction, development, and persistence of resistant bacteria in the farm environment
- on the epidemiology of food-borne pathogens.

In addition, there is a critical need to investigate methods and procedures to appropriately address resistance concerns that arise prior to licensing of quinolones. This research should define the appropriate risk assessment models and data needed to allow the models to be implemented. Additionally, the most appropriate post-approval monitoring schemes should be developed which complement the pre-approval risk assessment models.

## Data gathering needs

Gathering of surveillance data on resistance levels and drug usage is critically important for assessments of risk. Specifically, there are five purposes to monitoring occurrence of resistance in zoonotic pathogens, and these are to:

- assist in clinical decisions
- · provide information for the development of new drugs
- target and evaluate prevention and control measures (including prudent antimicrobial use) and epidemiology
- · identify trends in antibiotic resistance patterns
- inform public policy with information for risk assessment and antimicrobial use.

Quinolone usage data should be accessible to the regulatory authorities to help interpret the related resistance surveillance data.

### Monitoring of antimicrobial resistance

- In order to generate more reliable and comparable data, it is recommended that there be international co-ordination on surveillance methods and data exchange.
- The recommendations for surveillance methodologies as outlined in the Berlin document (proper reference) are re-emphasized.
- Resistance monitoring should be targeted to include at least *E. coli*, Salmonella, and Campylobacter isolated from animals.
- Laboratory susceptibility testing techniques, including breakpoints used in public health and food chain monitoring, should be standardised with a view to provide comparable data.
- Surveillance should ideally be structured to allow elements of both local monitoring and reporting as surveillance systems often pool data regionally or nationally. Thus, problems occurring at the level of the individual farm that are important for control of local resistance can be masked.
- Research should be undertaken to determine the optimum surveillance sampling schemes required to fulfil the objectives of the monitoring programme (i.e., to detect resistance emergence vs. to monitor the safety of the food supply).
- · Components for monitoring of resistance
  - national quality control
  - international standardisation and co-ordination of methods of susceptibility testing.
- For resistance to fluoroquinolones, quantitative susceptibility data and categorical nalidixic acid resistance data are more sensitive for the detection of common first-step mutations that cause reduced susceptibility than are categorical fluoroquinolone resistance data.

### Usage of quinolones in food animals

There is a need to acquire more and better information on quinolone usage in food animals. Information should also include generic drug use. Documentation of total usage at the national level by species, product class, indications, dose and geographical region is a first step. Availability of these data is critical for more accurate risk assessment. Ideally these data should be linked to epidemiological investigations. The more specific the consumption data, the better the ability to interpret any changes in resistance. If necessary, governments could either handle these data in a confidential and proprietary manner from the drug sponsor, or could survey end-users regarding prescribing practices or even require submission of consumption and usage data.

### Prudent use of antimicrobials in livestock

As an element to further encourage activities for the prudent use of antimicrobials in livestock WHO should take leadership with the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) and the OIE to convene, in collaboration with other international and intergovernmental organisations, an expert consultation to develop a code of practice for prudent use of antimicrobials in food animal production. WHO should ensure that public health safeguards are considered in the development of the code of practice.

The following proposals of the participants of this meeting should be considered at such a consultation:

- Veterinarians should have at their disposal antibiotics to treat sick animals, which
  in certain instances may include quinolones. Quinolones, as with any antimicrobial
  agent, should never be used as a substitute for good animal husbandry practices.
  Quinolones should be administered in accordance with prudent use principles.
  Prudent use of quinolones is defined as the practices that maximize therapeutic
  effect while minimising the emergence of resistance.
- Member States should be encouraged to promote prudent use of quinolones in veterinary medicine. Specifically for quinolones, prudent use includes, but is not limited to:
  - (a) treatment only under close supervision of a veterinarian for animals under his/her care with written records of use
  - (b) treatment upon a diagnosis based, whenever possible, on bacterial culture and susceptibility testing with the encouragement of accurate on-farm recordkeeping
  - (c) when culture and susceptibility culture results are known, an efficacious narrow-spectrum antibiotic is preferable for therapy over quinolones.

- Education of veterinarians and end-users about prudent use principles is critical to their implementation and should cover the risks of selecting resistant bacteria, the fundamental understanding of antimicrobials and prudent use concepts. Veterinary educators should be encouraged to ensure that these prudent use principles are included in veterinary curricula.
- Registration of quinolones should be only for therapeutic use and not for performance enhancement. They should be registered only as prescription veterinary pharmaceuticals, with appropriate enforcement of that requirement.
- No quinolones should be administered to a food animal unless the product has been evaluated and authorised by competent authorities, including a thorough assessment which considers the potential for development of resistance that may affect public health, and encouraging a post-approval monitoring programme to detect trends toward the emergence of resistance of public health significance. Authorities should be encouraged to utilize the data collected through such a monitoring programme to take measures to mitigate the development of resistance.
- Use of quinolones in food animals other than the licensed indications for use should be discouraged.

## Aquaculture

Quinolone use in aquaculture was not discussed at this consultation. Because of the unique use of quinolones in aquaculture, investigation of the public health impact of this use is critical and should be facilitated by WHO.

### Notes

- 1. The Medical Impact of the Use of Antimicrobials in Food Animals, Report of a WHO Meeting, Berlin, Germany, 13-17 October 1997; WHO/EMC/ZOO/97.4.
- 2. This term is used in reference to all generations of quinolones, including fluoroquinolones.
- 3. Information from working paper number 9, "Overview of quinolone usage for foodproducing animals" submitted by van Diest and de Jong.

WHO/EMC/ZDI/98.12

.

•



.

## LIST OF PARTICIPANTS AND OBSERVERS



Dr F. Aarestrup \* Danish Veterinary Laboratory Bükowsvej 27 Copenhagen DK-1790 Denmark Tel: 45 35 01 00 Fax: 45 35 01 20 E-mail: faa@svs.dk

Professor J. Acar Service de Microbiologie médicale Hôpital Saint Joseph 185, rue Raymond Losserand F-Paris 75674 Cedex 14 France Tel: 33 1 44 12 33 66 Fax: 33 1 44 12 34 93

Dr F. Anguio Centers for Disease Control and Prevention USDA/FDA/CDC Foodborne Diseases Project 1600 Clifton Road Atlanta, GA 30333 USA Tel: 1 404 329 9854 Fax: 1 404 639 2205 E-mail: fja0@cdc.gov

Dr F. Baquero \* Hospital Ramón y Cajal C. Colmenar Km. 9,100 Madrid 28034 Spain Tel: 34 1 336 8330 Fax: 34 1 336 9016 E-mail: fernando.bacquero@ hrc.es

Dr D. Bell National Center for Infectious Diseases Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1600 Clifton Road, NE Atlanta, GA 30333 USA Tel: 1 404 639 2603 Fax: 1 404 639 4197 E-mail: dmb1@cdc.gov

#### Dr M. Bland 3562 Jomar Drive Napa, CA 94558 USA

Tel: 1 707 257 1916 E-mail: mcbland@ pacbell.net

Dr J. Boisseau \* L'Agency Nationale du Médicament Vétérinaire La Haute Marche Javène 35 133 Fougères France Tel: 33 2 994 7878 Fax: 33 2 994 7879 E-mail: vafo10@calva.net

Dr T. Burkgren American Association of Swine Practitioners (AASP) 902 1st Street Perry, IA 50220 USA Tel: 1 515 465 5255 Fax: 1 515 465 3832 E-mail: aasp@netins.net

Professor Y. Chong Department of Clinical Pathology Yonsei University College of Medicine Severance Hospital Seoul Republic of Korea Tel: 82 2 361 5862 Fax: 82 2 313 0956 E-mail: leekcp@ yumc.yonsei.ac.kr

Dr R. Carnevale Representative, Conféderation Mondiale de l'Industrie de la Santé (COMISA) Animal Health Institute 501 Wyth Street Alexandria, VA 22314-1917 USA Tel: 1 703 684 0011 E-mail: rcarnevale@ahi.org Dr Paula Fedorka-Cray

Poultry Micro Research Unit USDA-ARS Richard Russelt Research Center 950 College Station Road Athens, GA 30605-2720 USA Tel: 1 706 546 3305 Fax: 1 706 546 3066 E-mail: pcray@ars.usda.gov

Dr A. Flahault Unité de Recherches U.444 INSERM 27, rue Chaligny 75571 Paris Cedex 12 France Tel: 33 1 56 01 68 13 Fax: 33 1 40 30 68 14 E-mail: flahault@ b3e.jussieu.fr

Professor H. Goossens (Chairperson) Department of Microbiology Universitair Ziekenhuis Wiirijstraat 10 Antwerp B-2650 Belgium Tel: 32 3 821 3789 Fax: 32 3 825 4281 E-mail: herman.goossens@ uza.uia.ac.be

Dr R. Helmuth Federal Institute for Health Protection of Consumers and Veterinary Medicine National Salmonella Reference Laboratory PO Box 480447 12254 Berlin Germany Tel: 49 30 8412 2233 Fax: 49 30 8412 3503 E-mail: r.helmuth@bgvv.de

Dr D. Hooper (Chairperson) Infectious Disease Division Massachusetts General Hospital 55 Fruit Street Boston, MA 02114 USA Tel: 1 617 726 3812 Fax: 1 617 726 3812 Fax: 1 617 726 7416 E-mail: dhooper@ partners.org Professor M. Inoue \* Department of Microbiology Kitasato University School of Medicine 1-15-1 Kitsato, Sagamihara Kanagawa 228-855 Japan Tel: 81 427 78 8111 E-mail. matsu@ kitasato-u.ac.jp

Professor S. Jin National Institute for the Control of Pharmaceutical and Biological Products Ministry of Public Health Temple of Heaven Beijing 100050 People's Republic of China Tel: 86 10 6701 7755 258 Fax: 86 10 6701 3755 E-mail: Jshh@ public.bta.net.cn

Dr B. Kaijser \* Department of Clinical Bacteriology University of Göteborg Guldhedsgatan 10 S-41346 Göteborg Sweden Tel: 46 31 604 908 Fax: 46 31 604 908 Fax: 46 31 410 024 E-mail: Bertil.Kaijser@ mic.gu.se

Dr Sasitorn Kanarat \* Department of Livestock Development Veterinary Public Health Division Phya-Thai Road Bangkok 10400 Thailand Tel: 662 251 5988 Fax: 6622517922

Professor H. Koornhof Department of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases South African Institute for Medical Research Hospital Street PO Box 1038 Johannesburg 2000 South Africa Tel: 27 11 489 9330 Fax: 27 11 489 9332 E-mail: hendrikk@ mail.saimr.wits.ac.za Dr K. Lechtenberg Midwest Veterinary Services, Inc.

1443 Highway 77 Oakland, NE 68045-5515 USA Tel: 1 402 685 6502 Fax: 1 402 685 6008 E-mail: mvs.inc@navix.net

Dr Diane Lightfoot Microbiological Diagnostic Unit University of Melbourne Royal Parade Parkville, Victoria 3052 Australia Tel: 61 3 9344 5701 Fax: 61 3 9344 7833 E-mail: Diane\_Lightfoot. MDU@muwaye.unimelb.edu.au

Dr S. McEwen (Rapporteur) University of Guelph Food Safety Epidemiology Department of Population Medicine Guelph N1G 2W1 Canada Tel: 1 519 824 4120 ext 4751 Fax: 1 519 763 3117 E-mail: smcewen@ ovcnet.uoguelph.ca

Dr P. McMullin British Veterinary Poultry Association Main Site Lane Dalton, Thirsk Y07 3JA NorthYorkshire UK Tel: 44 1845 577907 Fax: 44 1845 577778 E-mail: PaulMcMullin@ compuserve.com

Dr Laura Piddock Department of Infection Antimicrobial Agents Research Group University of Birmingham Birmingham B15 2TT United Kingdom Tel: 44 121 414 6969 Fax: 44 121 414 6969 Fax: 44 121 414 6966 E-mail: I.j.v.piddock@ bham.ac.uk



Professor N. Schmeer Representative, COMISA Institute of Infectious Diseases Building 6210/Monheim D-51368 Leverkusen Germany Tel: 49 2173 383173 Fax: 49 2173 383479 E-mail: norbert.schmeer.ns @bayer-ag.de

#### Professor S. Navashin National Research Centre of Antibiotics 3a Nagatinskaya Str. Moscow 113105 Russian Federation Tel: 7 95 111 4238 Fax: 7 95 118 9366

Professor C. Soussy Faculté de Medecine de Paris XII-Creteil Hôpital Henri Mondor 51 avenue de Lattre de Tassigny 94010 Creteil France Tel: 33 1 49 81 28 31 Fax: 33 1 49 81 28 39 E-mail: claudejames.soussy@hmn.ap-hopparis.fr

Dr A. Stephano Paseo del Moral 1119-301 Edif Acuario Valles del Campestre 37150 Leon, Gto Mexico Tel: 52 47 184907 Fax: 52 47 733216 E-mail: stephano@ leon.podemet.com.mx

Dr Ellen Stobberingh Department of Medical Microbiology Academic Hospital Maastricht P O Box 616 Maastricht, NL-6200 The Netherlands Tel: 31 43 3874644/6644 Fax: 31 43 3876643 E-mail: plu@lmib.azm.nl Dr S. Sundlof Center for Veterinary Medicine Food and Drug Administration Metro Park North 2 Rockville USA Tel: 1 301 594 1740 Fax: 1 301 594 1830 E-mail: ssundlof@ bangate.fda.gov

Dr J. Threifall Laboratory of Enteric Pathogens PHLS Central Public Health Laboratory 61 Colindale Avenue London NW9 5HT United Kingdom Tel: 44 181 200 4400 Fax: 44 181 905 9929

Dr J. Turnidge (Rapporteur) Department of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases Women's and Children's Hospital 72 King William Rd North Adelaide, SA 5006 Australia Tel: 61 8 8204 6873 Fax: 61 8 8204 6051 E-mail: TurnidgeJ@ wch.sa.gov.au Dr J. van Diest

Representative, COMISA Bayer Animal Health D-51368 Leverkusen Germany Tel: 49 2173 38 4023 Fax: 49 2173 38 4041 E-mail: Jan.Diest.JD@ bayer-ag.de

Dr H.C. Wegener National Veterinary Laboratory 27 Bükowsvej Copenhagen V 1790 Denmark Tel: 45 35 30 01 54 Fax: 45 35 30 01 20 E-mail: hcw@svs.dk

#### Professor M. Wierup Swedish Animal Health

Service Johanneshov 121 86 Sweden Tel: 46 8 725 80 00 Fax: 46 8 725 81 72 E-mail: Martin.Wierup@ globen.postnet.se

Dr S. Wong Tan Tock Seng Hospital Communicable Disease Centre Moulmein Road Singapore 308433 Tel: 65 3599501 Fax: 65 3599501 Fax: 65 2524056 E-mail: Sin\_Yew\_Wong@ notes.ttsh.gov.sg

Dr H. Yoshimura Antibiotic Department National Veterinary Assay Laboratory Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (MAFF) Tokyo Japan Fax: 814 2321 1769 E-mail: yosimuh@ nval.nval.go.jp

# Representatives from other

International Organizations

Dr N.-O. Bjerregaard World Veterinary Association Rosenlunds Allé 8 DK-2720 Vanlose Denmark Tel: 45 38 71 01 56 Fax: 45 38 71 03 22 E-mail: wva@ddd.dk

Dr A. Bryskier International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Associations (IFPMA) 102 route de Noisy 93235 Romainville Cedex France Tel: 33 (1) 49 91 51 21 Fax: 33 (1) 49 91 50 20 E-mail: andre.bryskier@ hmrag.com

#### Dr T. Daskaleros

Directorate-General XXIV European Commission Rue de la Loi 200 B-1049 Bruxelles Belgium Tel: 32 2 295 67 74 Fax: 32 2 29 96 299 E-mail: panagiotis. daskaleros@ dg24.cec.be

Dr P. Jones European Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal Products 7 Westferry Circus, Canary Wharf London E14 4HB United Kingdom Tel: 44 171 418 8400 Fax: 44 171 418 8447 E-mail: peter.jones@ emea.eudra.org

Dr J. Paakkanen Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Via delle Terme di Caracalla I-001100 Roma Italy Tel: 39 6 570 53523 Fax: 39 6 570 54593 E-mail: juhani.paakkanen@ fao.org

### Dr Barbara Röstel

Office International des Epizooties CNEVA - Fougères B. P. 203 35302 Fougères France Tel: 33 299 94 78 95 Fax: 33 299 94 78 99 E-mail: vafo10@calvacom.fr

Mr R. Stevenson International Pig Veterinary

Society The Veterinary Centre Porth Y Carne Street Usk, Gwent UK Tel: 44 1291 672637 Fax: 44 1291 673940

#### **Observers**

Dr S. Brown American Academy of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics 301 Henrietta Street Kalamazoo, Mi 49007 USA Tel: 1 616 833 2412 Fax: 1 616 833 7721 E-mail: scott.a.brown@ am.pnu.com

Dr R. Bywater Representative, COMISA Europe House Bancroft Road, Reigate Surrey, RH2 7RP UK Tel: 44 1737 227 402 Fax: 44 1737 227 402 Fax: 44 1737 227 410 E-mail: Bywatr00@ pfizer.com

Dr Gail Cassell \* American Society of Microbiology 1325 Massachusetts Avenue Washington, DC 20005 USA E-mail: Cassell\_Gail\_H@ lilly.com

Dr P. Choraine Federation of Veterinarians of Europe Avenue Fonsny 41 B-1060 Brussels Belgium Tel: 32 2 538 29 63 Fax: 32 2 537 28 28 E-mail: Pierre.Choraine@ emea.eudra.org

Dr T. Gomez United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) Veterinary Services Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1600 Clifton Road, NE Atlanta, GA 30333 USA Tel: 1 404 639 3233 Fax: 1 404 639 2212 E-mail: tmg1@cdc.gov



Dr Rebecca Invin Health Canada Guelph Laboratory 110 Stone Road West Guelph, Ontario, N1G 3W4 Canada Tel: 1 519 822 3300, Ext. 256 Fax: 1 519 822 2280 E-mail: rebecca\_irwin@ hc-sc.gc.ca

Dr P. MacDonald

Canadian Food Inspection Agency Animal Health and Production 59 Camelot Drive Nepean, Ontario, K1A OY9 Canada Tel: 1 613 225 2342 Ext. 5327 Fax: 1 613 228 6614 E-mail: PMacdonald@ em.agr.ca

Dr Odette Morin IFPMA 30 rue de St. Jean Geneva 1211 Switzerland Tel: 41 22 340 1200 Fax: 41 22 340 1380 E-mail: o.morin@ifpma.org

Dr Y. Oketani Office of Veterinary Drug Administration Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries 1-2-1 Kasumigaseki Chiyoda-lu, Tokyo 100 Japan Tel: 81 3 3591 Fax: 81 3 3506 2546

Dr P. Sundberg National Pork Producers Council P O Box 10383 Des Moines, IA 50306 USA Tel: 1 515 223 2764 Fax: 1 515 223 2646 E-mail: sundberp@nppc.org Dr Sharon Thompson United States Food and Drug Administration Center for Veterinary Medicine 7500 Standish Place Rockville, MD 20855 USA Tel: 1 303 594 1798 Fax: 1 301 594 1830 E-mail: sthompso@ bangate.fda.gov

Dr Linda Tollefson United States Food and Drug Administration Center for Veterinary Medicine Office of Surveillance and Compliance Rockville, MD 20855 USA Tel: 1 301 594 1768 Fax: 1 301 594 4512 E-mail: [tollefs@ bangate.fda.gov

Dr L. Vogel \* American Veterinary Medical Association 1931 N. Meacham Road Suite 100 Schaumburg, IL 60173-4360 USA Tel: 1 847 925 8070 Fax: 1 847 925 1329 E-mail: lvogel@avma.org

Dr C. Verschueren COMISA Rue Defacqz, 1/Bte 8 1000 Brussels Belgium Tel: 32 2 541 0111 Fax: 32 2 541 0119 E-mail: comisa@fedesa.be

Mr Y. Yano Japanese Veterinary Pharmaceutical Association (JVPA) Baji-Chikusan-kaiakan Bid, 1-2 Kanda Surugadai, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 101 Japan Tel: 81 3 3294 3243 Fax: 81 3 3294 0084

#### WHO Secretariat

Dr P. Arambulo III Veterinary Public Health Program HCP/HCV Pan American Health Organization Washington, DC 20037 USA Tel: 1 202 974 3000 Fax: 1 202 974 3642

Dr R. Crom Zoonotic Diseases Division of Emerging and other Communicable Diseases Surveillance and Control World Health Organization CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland Tel: 41 22 791 2842 Fax: 41 22 791 4893 E-mail: cromr@who.ch

Dr J. Estupiñàn Instituto Panamericano de Proteccion Organizacion Panamericana de la Salud INPPAZ Taicabuano 1660 Martinez **Buenos Aires** Argentina Tel: 54 1 792 0599 Fax: 54 1 793 0927 E-mail: inopaz@ internet.siscotel.com Dr D.L. Heymann Director Division of Emerging and other Communicable **Diseases Surveillance and** Control World Health Organization CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland Tel: 41 22 791 2660 Fax: 41 22 791 4198

E-mail: heymannd@who.ch

#### Chief, Zoonotic Diseases Division of Emerging and other Communicable Diseases Surveillance and Control World Health Organization CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland Tel: 41 22 791 2575 Fax: 41 22 791 4893

E-mail: meslinf@who.ch

Dr F.-X. Meslin

Mr A. Reilly Programme of Food Safety and Food Aid World Health Organization CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland Tel: 41 22 791 3462 Fax: 41 22 791 4807 E-mail: reillya@who.ch Dr K. Stöhr Secretary

Zoonotic Diseases Division of Emerging and other Communicable Diseases Surveillance and Control World Health Organization CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland Tel: 41 22 791 2529 Fax: 41 22 791 4893 E-mail: stohrk@who.ch

Dr Rosamund Williams Bacterial Diseases Division of Emerging and other Communicable Diseases Surveillance and Control World Health Organization CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland Tel: 41 22 791 4144 Fax: 41 22 791 4878 E-mail: williamsr@who.ch

\* Unable to attend